
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Wednesday, 20 July, 2016

1.00 pm

Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone





AGENDA

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Wednesday, 20th July, 2016, at 1.00 pm Ask for: Theresa Grayell
Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, 
Maidstone

Telephone 03000 416172
Tea/Coffee will be available 15 minutes before the meeting 

Membership 

Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Mrs Z Wiltshire (Vice-Chairman), Mr R E Brookbank, 
Ms H Carpenter, Mrs T Carpenter, Mrs P T Cole, Mr S Collins, Mr T Doran, Ms S Dunn, 
Ms S Dunstan, Ms M Emptage, Mr S Gray, Mr S Griffiths, Ms B Haskins, Mrs S Howes, 
Ms N Khosla, Mr G Lymer, Mrs C Moody, Mr B Neaves, Mr P Segurola, Ms B Taylor, 
Mr M J Vye, Mrs J Whittle and Vacancy (Virtual School Kent shared seat)

The Chairman will assume that all Members will read the reports before attending the 
meeting.  Officers are asked to assume the same when introducing reports.

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open the public)

1 The use of MOMO as a tool for engagement with young people in care 
NOTE: It was planned that some young people would attend the first part of the 
meeting to take part in this item, and that this part of the meeting would be 
closed to the press and public.  However, it has since been confirmed that no 
young people will be in attendance and the whole meeting is now likely to be 
open to the public.  

A.  PANEL BUSINESS
A1 Membership 

The Panel is asked to note that Mrs Sue Howes has joined the Panel to fill the 
vacancy left by the recent death of Ms C J Cribbon.

A2 Apologies and substitutes 



A3 Minutes of the meeting of this Panel held on 26 May 2016 (Pages 5 - 16)

A4 Chairman's Announcements 

A5 Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) 

A6 Verbal Update by Cabinet Member 

B.  ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION
B1 Progress report - Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning Strategy 2015 - 

2018 (Pages 17 - 30)

B2 Placement Stability Report (Pages 31 - 48)

B3 Overview of the Laming Review - 'In care, out of trouble' (Pages 49 - 54)

Peter Sass
Head of Democratic Services 
03000 416647

Tuesday, 12 July 2016

Please note that any background documents referred to in the accompanying papers 
maybe inspected by arrangement with the officer responsible for preparing the relevant 
report.



KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

MINUTES of a meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel held in Darent Room, 
Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Thursday, 26 May 2016.

PRESENT: Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Mrs Z Wiltshire (Vice-Chairman), 
Ms H Carpenter, Mrs T Carpenter, Mrs P T Cole, Mr T Doran, Ms M Emptage 
(Substitute for Ms S Dunn), Mr S Griffiths, Ms B Haskins, Ms N Khosla, Mr G Lymer, 
Mr T A Maddison (Substitute for Ms C J Cribbon), Mrs C Moody, Ms C  Mutton 
(Substitute for Ms S Dunstan), Mr P Segurola, Ms S Titchner (Substitute for Ms B 
Taylor), Mr M J Vye and Mrs J Whittle

IN ATTENDANCE: Mrs S Skinner (Service Business Manager, Virtual School Kent) 
and Miss T A Grayell (Democratic Services Officer)

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

144. Apologies and substitutes 
(Item A1)

1. Apologies for absence had been received from Mr R Brookbank, Mr S Collins, 
Ms C J Cribbon, Ms S Dunn, Ms S Dunstan, Mr S Gray, Mr B Neaves, Mr P J 
Oakford and Ms B Taylor. 

2. Mr T Maddison was present as a substitute for Ms C J Cribbon, Ms M 
Emptage for Ms S Dunn, Ms C Mutton for Ms S Dunstan and Ms S Titchner for Ms B 
Taylor. 

145. Minutes of the meeting of this Panel held on 15 March 2016 
(Item A2)

1. RESOLVED that the minutes of the Panel meeting held on 15 March 2016 are 
correctly recorded and they be signed by the Chairman. 

2. Arising from minute 138, The Vice-Chairman, Mrs Wiltshire, reported that the 
group of young people in Thanet who had made a DVD about local crime issues and 
how these could be addressed had won a national Crime Beater award in March. 
They had been shortlisted, with 11 others, out of 55 original entrants, and the award 
was accompanied by a cash prize of £1,000. The young people concerned were 
warmly congratulated by the Panel and Mrs Wiltshire was commended for 
encouraging them to submit the DVD for an award, with the involvement of the High 
Sheriff of Kent, whose projects for 2016 included tackling crime and drugs.  Mrs 
Wiltshire added that she was very proud of the young people.

3. The Chairman suggested that the winning DVD be shown to a future meeting 
of the Panel.

Page 5

Agenda Item A3



146. Minutes of the meeting of the Kent Corporate Parenting Group held on 29 
February 2016 
(Item A3)

1. In response to a request for reassurance that merging the Kent Corporate 
Parenting Group and the Corporate Parenting Panel would not inhibit scope to 
discuss operational activity in the future, Mr Segurola explained that this issue had 
been considered when planning the merger. He assured the Panel that existing links 
with operational partners and ‘behind the scenes’ multi-agency joint working would 
continue as before.  The Panel had agreed that it would review its operation after six 
months, and this would give an opportunity to check that frank discussion was not 
being inhibited. 

2. In response to a question about potential challenges in engaging social 
workers from abroad, Mr Segurola explained that good English language skills were 
a basic requirement. Some overseas recruitment campaigns in the past had not been 
successful, and experience had shown that the level of support given to new social 
workers, including the quality of induction, a low initial caseload and help in finding 
accommodation, was a major factor in the success of such a campaign. 

3. RESOLVED that the minutes of the final meeting of the Kent Corporate 
Parenting Group, held on 29 February 2016, be noted. 

147. Chairman's Announcements 
(Item A4)

1. The Chairman welcomed new Panel members to their first meeting and 
emphasised that, although the County Council membership was cross-party, 
discussion of business was non-political. 

148. Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) 
(Item A5)

1. Ms Titchner and Ms Mutton introduced themselves and gave a verbal update 
on recent work undertaken by the VSK participation team on behalf of the OCYPC 
and Children in Care Council (CICC).

Recruitment:
 Ms Titchner had started work in March 2016 as a Participation Support 

Assistant.
 Ms Mutton had started work in April 2015 as an Apprentice Participation 

Worker.  
 A new Apprentice Participation Worker, Reece, would start employment in 

June. 
 Two more VSK Apprentices were still being sought, to fill vacancies in North 

and West Kent.   

Meetings:
 In East Kent, membership and attendance at meetings was gradually 

increasing.  Attendance in North and West Kent was still strong. 

Page 6



 At the last meeting of the Super Council, discussion had taken place of what 
qualities a good social worker should have, with trustworthiness being judged 
the most important.

 At the last meeting of the OCYPC, service managers had attended to answer 
questions about the challenges faced by social workers, and this session had 
been very useful. 

 It was hoped that more UASC could be encouraged to attend Young Adults 
Council (YAC) meetings.

 Recent meetings had included a basic first aid course by the St John’s 
Ambulance Service and a masterclass in CV preparation and interview skills. 

 A county-wide CICC meeting would take place on 5 August, to celebrate the 
achievements of the Council.  Panel Members would be invited to attend this. 

Other Activity:

 A team of YAC and VSK staff would undertake the Thames Bridges 25km 
Trek on 10 September, for which Panel members were invited to sponsor 
them.  The aim was to raise £3,000. 

 The OCYPC would continue to work on tackling stigma around being in care, 
for example, the way in which schools approached a child’s care status. It was 
planned that this work would include making a DVD about identity, in which 
young people would describe themselves in three words.  This would help 
challenge stereotypes of children in care and would emphasise that there was 
so much more to a young person’s identity than their care status. It was hoped 
that the finished DVD would be premiered at the awards ceremony.

 A programme of activity days was planned for the summer and details of this 
would be sent to Panel members when complete. Activities would include art 
days, gliding, horse riding, a sports day and a trip to Dover Castle. Activity 
days were an excellent opportunity for young people in care to meet and 
network.

 Work would continue on training a recruit crew to take part in interview panels 
for social workers and foster carers, and Skills to Foster panels. 

 A county-wide art competition was planned, sponsored by the Director of 
Specialist Children’s Services.

 A newsletter would be re-designed to be printed and posted direct to young 
people rather than via social workers or foster carers. This would ensure that it 
reached a wider audience. 

 Social workers’ business cards had now been printed and were being 
circulated via children in care teams across the county.

2. Mrs Skinner added that a challenge card for young people in care to be able to 
meet their siblings, either at home or in another placement, was now being followed 

Page 7



up by the IRO and fostering services.  The issue would be referred to the CICC for 
discussion at the end of May. 

3. Ms Titchner responded to comments and questions from the Panel, as 
follows:-

a) invitations to Panel members to attend OCYPC and YAC meetings could 
be wider so more would have an opportunity to participate; 

b) notice of, and an invitation to attend, activity days, was welcomed;

c) some County Councillors had been able to support activities via their 
individual Member Grants, but this was limited, so any applications for 
funding should be submitted as soon as possible;

d) in response to a question about stigma and schools’ treatment of children 
in care, the Panel was advised that teachers sometimes made allowances 
for children in care and treated them differently from other pupils, for 
instance, by reprimanding other pupils involved in misbehaviour but 
avoiding reprimanding them, as it was thought that this would distress 
them.  It was difficult to find the right way to approach the subject but the 
YAC could help with advice for teachers; 

e) it would be useful to show the finished DVD about stigma to the full County 
Council, and the Chairman undertook to look into arranging this. She 
suggested that the VSK apprentices write to the Chairman of the County 
Council, sending the DVD, when complete, and asking him to allow it to be 
shown at a County Council meeting.  Mrs Skinner added that the Leader of 
the County Council had asked to attend a future meeting of the OCYPC, 
which would add an opportunity to raise the promotion of the DVD;

f) Mr Doran spoke about his experience as a teacher needing to address 
issues around trauma for young people. Specific training in this issue 
would need to be continually updated. A conference – ‘Good Emotional 
Health Equals Good Learning’ - in June 2016 would include discussion on 
understanding of the impact of trauma and attachment on learning and 
behaviour; and

g) Foster carers praised the VSK apprentices for their excellent work in 
encouraging children in care to engage and participate, particularly in East 
Kent and for children with a disability.

4. The verbal updates were noted, with thanks. 

149. Verbal Update by Cabinet Member 
(Item A6)

1. In the absence of the Cabinet Member, Mr Lymer gave a verbal update on the 
follow issues:-

Drive to increase foster carers – in relation to National Foster Carer Fortnight, the 
County Council was seeking to attract more foster carers. Mr Lymer referred to the 

Page 8



immense contribution made by the county’s foster carers to the support and 
development of young people in care and the rewarding nature of the role. He cited 
the VSK apprentices as examples of what young people in care could achieve when 
they benefitted from the support and guidance of good foster carers.  
UASC – the number of UASC arriving in Kent in recent weeks and months had been 
lower than had been anticipated. The Panel would be further updated on the situation 
at future meetings. 

2. Ms Smith added that the two-week targeted foster carer recruitment campaign 
had included online and social media, local press and radio. In addition, a fostering 
activity day had sought to match prospective foster carers to children seeking 
permanent placements. This was an innovative approach, and Kent was the first local 
authority to hold such an event. In response to a question about the drop-out rate for 
prospective foster carers who started but did not complete the assessment and 
training process, Ms Smith explained that it was important to be clear and frank at the 
outset about the requirements and demands of the role so applicants could see a 
realistic picture of what they were going into.  In Kent, approximately 40% of 
applicants were successful in completing the process, and this compared well to the 
success rate nationally. 

3. The verbal updates were noted, with thanks. 

150. Kent County Council Foster Carers Annual Survey 2016, in consultation 
with Kent Foster Carer Association (KFCA) 
(Item B1)

Ms C Smith, Acting County Manager, Fostering, and Ms L Wray from the Kent Foster 
Carer Association, were in attendance for this item. 

1. Ms Smith introduced the report and said that the single biggest issue identified 
by the survey had been the vital importance of good communication between the 
County Council and its foster carers.  Ms Wray added that, due to the low response 
rate - only 23% of foster carers – any dissatisfaction voiced in replies should not be 
taken as an indication of general dissatisfaction among foster carers as a whole.  It 
had often been found that those most likely to respond to a survey were those who 
wished to complain.

2. Ms Smith, Ms Wray and Ms Khosla responded to comments and questions 
from the Panel, as follows:-

a) concern was expressed that the questionnaire had been accessible only 
online, which some people might have found difficult; 

b) good engagement with foster carers was indeed vital, as they formed the 
‘front line’ of the County Council’s services to children and young people in 
care. To gain a  clear picture of their views and concerns, a much higher 
response rate would be needed; 

c) foster carers’ lack of awareness of appreciation events indicated that social 
workers should be more proactive in communicating with foster carers, and 
there was clearly not a coherent approach across the county to advertising 
appreciation events. Ms Smith agreed that her priority was to act on the 

Page 9



feedback given. Foster carers were generally satisfied with their level of 
engagement with social workers; those voicing complaints tended to be 
those who had had many changes of placement or were caring for young 
people with complex needs;

d) a view was expressed that it should not be assumed that those who had 
not replied were necessarily happy.  Kent had to compete with independent 
fostering agencies to recruit good foster carers so could not afford to be 
complacent, and the Panel, as corporate parents, should be proactive in 
identifying the issues which needed to be addressed. Placement stability 
was currently a concern, and if foster carers did not have good information 
about services available they were not best able to support a child. Ms 
Smith responded that work was currently going on about how to improve 
matching and information, as good matching at the outset would lead to a 
more stable placement.  Ms Khosla agreed that good planning before the 
start of a placement would increase the chances of a placement remaining 
stable. Work to support placements was being undertaken with the VSK 
and the adolescent teams. A funding bid was being made to the DfE 
Innovation Fund in the hope of developing a more multi-disciplinary 
approach to personal support; 

e) the survey had shown that 10% of foster carers thought that 
communication was a problem, but perhaps this was because they were 
caring for children with the most challenging or complex needs.  To get a 
true picture, the County Council would need to engage with those foster 
carers who had not responded; 

f) asked when the fostering review in June would be ready to report to the 
Panel, Ms Khosla explained that the review would involve much work and 
was expected to be ready to report back in September, with an action plan 
setting out areas of future work. The peer review was being undertaken by 
a senior manager from the Tri Boroughs, which received an ‘outstanding’ 
Ofsted judgement;

g) asked if the former foster carers conference could be revived, to allow an 
opportunity for networking, Ms Smith explained that  the Kent Foster Carer 
Association conference had recently taken place and there were plans for 
another in October 2016. In addition, news of the issues raised in the 
survey could be communicated to foster carers via their annual reviews. 
Clarifying the purpose of the annual review and running the programme 
would both be helped by a new separate foster carer review team which 
would operate independently of the rest of the Fostering service;     

h) asked if there was scope to explore the foster carer voice within the health 
service, perhaps by linking to Looked After Children nurses, with the aim of 
improving health assessments and health services to children in care, Ms 
Smith confirmed that there was indeed scope to do this.  The health 
assessment service had improved in recent years, with the result that 
CAMHS had been easier to access, but this service had scope to improve 
further;

Page 10



i) the annual report on the fostering service considered by the Panel in 
September 2015 had identified the need for foster carers to be given more 
training on working with UASC, and Ms Smith agreed that the training 
package could be improved;

j) the survey had reported a lack of awareness among foster carers of Signs 
of Safety, and there was no current training on this for foster carers.  
However, Mr Segurola explained that Signs of Safety was a model of social 
work practice and, as such, was not something that would need to be 
included in foster carers’ training, as long as foster carers were aware of its 
existence as a model; and

k)  The foster carers on the Panel contributed the following comments:-

 To make the outcome more representative, and to capture the views of 
those who were less proactive in providing feedback, completion of the 
annual survey could be made compulsory, and could be tackled as part 
of a foster carer’s annual review;  

 The fact that so few had completed the survey did not seem to give a 
good impression of the enthusiasm of Kent foster carers, although the 
timing of the survey – January/February – had been a busy time for 
many foster carers, and it was easy to put a survey aside to tackle later 
and then not go back to it;  

 The questions could be improved by being more specific; and

 the survey was an opportunity for foster carers to comment on and 
shape their service, and its importance in this regard could be 
highlighted. 

3. RESOLVED that the information set out in the report, and given in response to 
comments and questions, be noted, and a report on the outcome of the peer 
review of the fostering service be considered by the Panel in Autumn 2016. 

151. Kent County Council response to Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) and 
Missing Children 
(Item B2)

Ms P Denney, Head of Safeguarding, and Mr P Startup, LADO Manager, were in 
attendance for this item.

1. Ms Denney introduced the report and highlighted its key points, including the 
need to raise awareness of the issues among foster carers, the need to conduct, or 
ask other local authorities to conduct and report the outcomes of, return interviews 
when a child had returned from being missing, and the need to coerce other local 
authorities placing children in Kent to comply with the requirement to undertake pre-
placement planning and checks, and to give the County Council advance notice of a 
planned placement.  Ms Denney stressed the importance of having a complete and 
accurate picture of the CSE and vulnerability profile in Kent. 

Page 11



2. The CSE conference held in October 2015 had highlighted the need for 
constant improvement in the information made available to foster carers, to young 
people and to professional partners. An audit of cases, undertaken by Nick Stacey in 
2015, had been followed by an audit in April 2016 of 70 cases, of which, 23 were of 
children in care.  The outcome of this later audit was yet to be published but was 
expected to be good.  Mr Startup added that the new multi-agency CSE team had 
now been operational for six months and would prioritise children identified as being 
at the greatest risk of CSE. Appropriate and relevant information sharing amongst 
professionals was important but required careful consideration by the officers 
concerned.  

3.  Ms Denney, Mr Startup and Mr Segurola responded to comments and 
questions from the Panel, as follows:-

a) in response to a question about the extent to which the lack of co-operation 
of other local authorities placing children in care in Kent could be viewed as 
negligence or perverting the course of justice, and the extent to which the 
County Council could hold other local authorities to account about their 
lack of co-operation, Mr Segurola explained that the County Council’s legal 
powers in this regard were constrained. He confirmed that other local 
authorities did indeed have a requirement to consult a host authority before 
placing a child but this often did not happen. Failure to consult had been 
noted by inspectors in the past, and the issue could be addressed via 
Ofsted. A view was expressed that one neighbouring authority which had 
failed to consult or notify Kent had achieved a ‘good’ rating by Ofsted, so it 
seemed reasonable for the County Council to ask Ofsted how they rated 
such practice when inspecting a service; 

b) concern was expressed at the manner in which other local authorities 
continued to place children in Kent without full consideration as to how their 
needs could be met.  It was suggested that the Children’s Commissioner, 
Anne Longfield, be invited to visit Kent to discuss this issue with Members 
and officers;

c) the involvement of representatives of the County Council’s multi-agency 
partners in that meeting would help to emphasise that the Council was not 
the only body affected by the issues. As Thanet was a destination for many 
children in care placed by other local authorities, the challenges it faced 
should be highlighted at that meeting;

d) at the CSE conference in October 2015 it had been disturbing to hear the 
extent  of CSE and examples of cases.  A briefing for all County Council 
Members, updating them on the Lakeland review and subsequent progress 
of CSE work, had been arranged for 21 June 2016. Discussion followed of 
the previous CSE conference held in 2015, which had included compelling 
accounts of the experiences of an adult survivor of CSE.  It was suggested 
that all Members have access to this type of presentation as it was so 
powerful.   When asked about the suitability of the content of this for young 
people, due to its disturbing content, Mrs Skinner advised that it might be 
appropriate for some but not others and that officers would consider on an 
individual basis which young people they would suggest be shown the 
presentation;

Page 12



e) some children affected by CSE would not report the issue, while others 
would. Schools were surely the major route for referrals.  Mr Segurola 
assured the Panel that school staff had had training on how to handle 
reports of CSE and how to direct referrals. Another speaker commented 
that a local school had refused a police briefing about CSE as they felt the 
content of the material was too disturbing for their pupils.  Mr Segurola 
advised that the issue should always be handled in a way which was age-
appropriate for the audience concerned.  Mr Doran assured the Panel that 
schools took the issue very seriously; there was an officer in Education,  
Rebecca Avery, dedicated to addressing it;

f) the presence of health representatives on the multi-agency CSE team 
would help health to link the work of the CSE team with the work of its 
specialist children in care commissioning team and services such as 
CAMHS.  Mr Doran added that the more professionals who became 
involved, for instance by viewing the presentation previously mentioned, 
the higher a profile the issue would acquire;

g) foster carers were often the last people to be consulted about issues such 
as CSE, yet they well placed to observe behaviour and had access to 
information about the children and young people in their care that other 
professionals simply did not have.  Ms Denney agreed that foster carers 
had a vital role to play in tackling CSE, as indeed they had in so many 
other issues relating to children in care; and

h) Ms Denney confirmed that the report of the Lakeland inquiry was due to be 
published at the end of June, and a Member briefing about its content 
would be arranged shortly after that.

4. RESOLVED that:-

a) the information set out in the report, and given in response to comments and 
questions, be noted; and

b) the Children’s Commissioner, Anne Longfield, be invited to come to Kent to 
meet with Members and officers to discuss the issues set out in para  3 b) 
above. 

152. Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) Service Annual Report 
(Item B3)

Mr T Stevenson, Service Manager, Quality Assurance, was in attendance for this 
item.

1. Mr Stevenson introduced the report and highlighted key areas of progress in 
the past year. It had been difficult to undertake the added-value work which had been 
planned, due to higher caseloads arising from the increased numbers of UASC 
arriving throughout the year. To accommodate the additional workload arising from 
this, and to enable the service to deliver its action plan, seven new IROs had been 
employed. Mr Stevenson responded to comments and questions from the Panel, as 
follows:- 

Page 13



a) the CSCH Cabinet Committee, at its May meeting, had asked the Panel to 
look into placement stability, and the IRO service could perhaps assist with 
an in-depth piece of work around this. Mr Stevenson emphasised that 
some changes of placement were necessary and constructive, for 
example, when a child recently coming in care moved from an initial 
temporary placement to a long-term placement.  Ms Denney added that 
some children could be placed with their parents but would still show up in 
statistics as being ‘in care’. To give a placement the best chance of being 
stable and resilient, good initial matching was important;

b) very few young people took up the option of ‘staying put’, and it would be 
helpful for the Panel, as corporate parents, to be able to understand the 
reason for this, and have a better understanding of other patterns in care. It 
was suggested that the Staying Put policy be reviewed, and Ms Khosla 
commented that any review would need to consider the rates paid to foster 
carers and the practicalities and cost to foster carers, for example, of 
committing a room for the use of a care leaver staying put, which would 
then be unavailable to a another child coming into care and needing a 
foster placement;

c) some foster carers did not know about the Staying Put policy so could not 
advise young people about it.  Some young people were not ready to leave 
care at 18 and could benefit from Staying Put, if they knew about it;

d) disappointment was expressed that so few foster carers had taken the time 
to fill in the survey questions to feed back about statutory review meetings. 
Providing feedback on services, and taking up issues on behalf of young 
people, was part of the caring role to which they had committed 
themselves; 

e) the Panel should have an overview of issues and services provided to 
Kent’s 2,330 children and young people in care. Members could perhaps 
use Local Children’s Partnership Groups to look at this as all these groups 
included the local County Council Members;

f) it was good to see that IRO workloads in Kent were now around the 
national average;

g) the deterioration in performance around children in care Care Plans in 
2015/16 was queried.  The figure fell from 93% in 2014/15 to 61.8% in 
2015/16.  This was largely attributable to the impact of the UASC situation 
and the difficulties in providing a fully-rounded children in care service, 
including the provision of timely, comprehensive care plans to the large 
number of UASC arrivals in 2015.  This affected the grading on individual 
cases and brought the overall grading down year on year. Subsequent 
investigation found that the 93% figure quoted related to Quarter 4 of 
2014/15 rather than the annual total, so was not a like-for-like comparison. 
Care planning could be delayed by the number of UASC arriving at any 
time, sometimes in large numbers at once.  Mr Segurola added that IROs 
aimed to encourage more young people to chair their own care reviews, to 
raise their confidence; and 

Page 14



 
h) many young people did not understand their care plans but these included 

large numbers of UASC, for whom the future was more uncertain as they 
awaited the outcome of their asylum appeals. Involving young people in a 
review of the pathways template would help their understanding. Many 
children and young people were also not very aware of the Kent Pledge to 
children in care, although all children in care were issued with a card 
setting out the details of the Pledge. 

2. RESOLVED that the information set out in the report, and given in response to 
comments and questions, be noted. 

153. Head Teacher of Virtual School Kent update report 
(Item B4)

1. Mr Doran introduced the update report and explained that Kent’s proposed 
Pupil Premium Policy for Children in Care for 2016-2017 was being presented to the 
Panel for comment and endorsement. The new policy responded to DoE guidance 
and was based on a hybrid model of deployment, ie part direct-fund, part application 
process, which had proved the most popular in consultation. Implementation of the 
policy would be monitored by VSK Assistant Head Teachers.

2. In terms of a regular update on educational attainment of children in care, Mr 
Doran advised the Panel that last year’s results had now been verified and showed a 
general overall improvement on the previous year’s results.  Kent was above the 
national average score in five of the eight categories, level with the national average 
in one category and marginally below in two. 

3.  Mr Doran responded to comments and questions from the Panel, as follows:-

a) although the Panel was listed as contributing members to the appeal panel 
which would hear appeals against Pupil Premium funding allocations, the 
VSK Head Teacher was surely better placed to judge allocations. Members 
were advised that, in the year since the appeal process started, no appeals 
had been received; 

b) Pupil Premium would not apply to non-mainstream settings, such as Pupil 
Referral Units, as these were funded differently. The hybrid model of Pupil 
Premium was designed to respond flexibly to a child’s needs, to help 
narrow the gap in attainment between children in care and their peers, and 
Mr Doran assured the Panel that, if a child met the criteria for an additional 
payment, they would receive the funding they needed; and

c) in response to a question about Pupil Premium funding following a child 
placed outside their home authority, Mr Doran explained that not all local 
authorities would have chosen the same model as Kent. Dealing with the 
varying policies of neighbouring authorities added a complexity to out-of-
county placements, as the model used by the host authority and placing 
authority may differ, and Kent would need to keep track of the different 
models in use in all of the other local authorities placing children within 
Kent.

Page 15



4. RESOLVED that:-

a) the information set out in the report, and given in response to comments 
and questions, be noted; and

b) the Virtual School Kent Pupil Premium Policy for Children in Care for 2016-
17 be endorsed. 

154. Performance Scorecard for Children In Care 
(Item B5)

Mrs M Robinson, Management Information Service Manager, was in attendance for 
this item.

1. Mrs Robinson introduced the report and explained the performance for those 
indicators for which a red RAG rating applied.  Additionally, there were some 
performance measures rated as amber that were very near to meeting the Target 
set.  Definitions for the Adoption performance indicator and those for Care Leavers 
would change for the 2016/17 reporting, and these changes were explained. 

2. RESOLVED that the information set out in the dashboard be noted.

Page 16



By: Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s
Services

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, Health and 
Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 20 July 2016

Subject: PROGRESS REPORT - SUFFICIENCY, PLACEMENTS AND 
COMMISSIONING STRATEGY - 2015-2018

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral Division: All

Summary: This report provides the second update on progress of the 
implementation of the Sufficiency, Placements and 
Commissioning Strategy for the Corporate Parenting Panel. 

Recommendation: Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
CONSIDER and COMMENT ON the progress made in 
implementing the Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning 
Strategy 2015-2018.

1. Introduction

1.1 The Sufficiency, Commissioning and Placements Strategy 2015-2018 replaces 
the previous Sufficiency Strategy which covered 2012-2015. This is a required 
document which will go into the Annex A OFSTED inspection requirements and 
which sets out the authority’s commitment to providing sufficient high quality 
accommodation for Kent’s Children in Care (CIC) and Care Leavers. 

1.2 The Strategy outlines the current position in Kent, the challenges facing the 
authority and its response to them.  The Strategy has been widely consulted 
on, including with Our Children and Young People’s Council (OCYPC) and 
Virtual Schools Kent (VSK), Care Leavers and Apprentices.

2. Financial Implications

2.1 The authority makes a significant financial commitment to meet its statutory 
responsibilities to provide a sufficiency of accommodation for CIC and Care 
Leavers.  In particular, the cost of residential placements and independent 
fostering agency placements is significant.

2.2 This Strategy has been informed by the 0-25 transformation programme and 
progress against the key challenges identified in this document will lead to cost 
reductions for the authority. 

Page 17

Agenda Item B1



3. Progress to date

3.1 The Strategy outlines four challenges, delivery of which is measured by the 
achievement against the eight measures, as set out in table 1 below.  Delivery 
of the Strategy will be monitored using these measures.

3.2 For each of the measures set out in the Strategy, a summary of progress, 
activity to date and planned activity for the coming quarter is outlined below. 
Monitoring delivery of the Strategy in this way enables us to have a clear 
understanding of achievements to date and how we are working to implement 
further improvements in the services children receive.

3.3 Our approach to meeting the Council’s responsibilities to provide secure, safe 
and appropriate accommodation to CIC and Care Leavers is centred around 
the five strategic levers that we believe will deliver improvements to sufficiency 
in Kent.  These are:

 Enhancing early help, prevention and partnership working
 Further developing in-house foster care services
 Continuously improving quality of care 
 Market engagement
 Continuing to build organisational effectiveness 

3.4 A review of the Strategy will be undertaken later in the year and will aim to 
ensure that we are not focused on just what is coming in through the ‘front door’ 
but also on ensuring that we report on the right areas to reflect the total number 
of CIC.  The review will consider:

 Government recommendations regarding ensuring the sufficiency of 
placements

 Developments in national and local policy for both citizen and 
Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking children

 An overview of placements, taking into account an increase in the 
number of children in Residential Children’s Homes, the throughput 
of Special Guardianship Orders and the increase in the rate of this 
type of placement

 The number of children that the authority has a responsibility for 
has increased, e.g. through an increase in the number of Care 
Orders 

 The Fostering Recruitment Strategy
 The Adoption Recruitment Strategy

4. Key Challenges and Supporting Measures

4.1 Table 1: Sufficiency Strategy 

Challenge 1:  
The need for effective support and practice 

to ensure that as many children as 
possible are able to remain living at home 

Measure 1: We will expect to see 
a reduction in the number of 
children and young people in Care

Page 18



with their families

Challenge 2:
Provision of effective support and 

availability of suitable accommodation to 
meet the needs of Care Leavers

Measure 2: We expect to see an 
increase in the percentage of Care 
Leavers who are living in suitable 
accommodation

Measure 3: We expect to see an 
increase in the number of children 
placed within 20 miles of their 
originating address for children 
with Disabilities and those in the 
West of the county
Measure 4: We expect to see the  
percentage of children in the same 
placement for two years remaining 
stable

Challenge 3:  
Access to high quality placements that 

support Children in Care to have stability 
and to achieve positive outcomes

Measure 5: We expect to grow 
and diversify the skill, capability 
and capacity of our in-house foster 
carers
Measure 6: We expect to see a 
reduction in the number of  
Children in Care that have three or 
more placement moves per year

Measure 7: We expect to see a 
continued reduction in the length of 
time it takes between entering the 
care of the Local Authority and an 
Adoption Order being granted. 

Challenge 4:
Quality of practice and support to meet the 
needs of Children in Care , improving their 

experience of care and achieving 
permanence

Measure 8: An increase in the 
number of children in permanent 
long-term fostering placements

5. Sufficiency Strategy – Reporting on the Measures

Challenge 1:  The need for effective support and practice to ensure that as many 
children as possible are able to remain living at home with their families
Measure 1: We will expect to see a reduction in the number of children and 
young people in Care

Page 19



Table 2: Total number of children entering care at the end of each quarter 
(March 2012 to end March 2016)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600 LAC Starts (ex UASC)

Total no. of LAC starts

Analysis of progress

 There has been a reduction in the total number of children entering care in 
Kent, as the numbers of UASC arriving into Kent has fallen.

 There had been a slight increase in the numbers of citizen children entering 
care in Kent, but this too has stabilised and decreased slightly in the last six 
months.

Activity to deliver

 The Early Help Commissioning Intentions Programme is in progress and aims 
to deliver new services which will focus on the journey of a child and family, 
rather than addressing incidents and issues in isolation.  Commissioned 
services will build on family strengths and ensure both support and challenge 
to families to build family resilience and reduce dependency on interventions.

 Adolescent Support Teams are now reconfigured, and the Safer, Stronger 
Families service has been extended to deliver family-focused interventions to 
support a reduction in the number of children entering care in Kent, while a 
longer-term commissioning strategy is devised.

 Also within Specialist Children’s Services (SCS), the continued integration of 
the Signs of Safety practice methodology is supporting Social Workers to 
deliver positive outcomes for children and their families by ensuring they 
receive the right level of support, in a timely way.

Actions for next quarter

 Implementation of key services within Early Help and Preventative Services 
(EHPS) including a family support and Not in Education, Employment or 
Training (NEET) Programme. 

 EHPS grants are being aligned to Local Children’s Services Partnership 
Groups to ensure that services reflect the need on the most localised level. 

Page 20



 A diagnostic of the needs for Edge of Care Services is being undertaken to 
ensure that any future services (currently the Safer Stronger Families 
Service), meet the needs of the children and families who require these kinds 
of services.

 As part of the 0-25 Unified Programme, work has been ongoing to develop the 
adolescent support teams, with all teams now fully operational.  As a result we 
have succeeded in keeping 35 adolescents, who would have previously 
entered our care, at home, and have also prevented a further 21 young 
people from remaining in long-term care by reuniting them with their families.

Challenge 2:  Provision of effective support and availability of suitable 
accommodation to meet the needs of Care Leavers
Measure 2: We expect to see an increase in the percentage of Care Leavers 
who are living in suitable accommodation

Table 3: Percentage of Care Leavers living in suitable accommodation

83%

85.8%

87%
87.9%

80%

81%

82%

83%

84%

85%

86%

87%

88%

89%

30/06/2015 30/09/2015 31/12/2015 31/03/2016
Percentage 83% 85.8% 87% 87.9%

Analysis of progress

 The percentage of young people contacted who deem their accommodation to 
be suitable is at 87.9%.  This represents a positive upwards improvement 
over the previous nine months1.

Activity to deliver

 The 16-25 Accommodation and Support Programme continues.  Work stream 
two will establish a consistent County Council commissioning approach to 
high quality accommodation and additional support for vulnerable 16-25 year 
olds. 

1It is expected that DfE will no longer be requiring data on those Care Leavers with whom we are not “In 
Touch”. 

Page 21



 The quality of both accommodation and support is being addressed as part of 
future commissioning intentions, and service specifications are currently being 
drafted for both.

 The 18+ Care Leavers service is prioritising contacts with young people to 
gather their view on suitability of their accommodation in line with the 
requirements of the DfE indicator.

Actions for next quarter

 Further progress with plans to procure new 16-25 accommodation and support 
services.

Challenge 3: Access to high quality placements that support Children in Care 
to have stability and to achieve positive outcomes
Measure 3: We expect to see an increase in the number of children placed 
within 20 miles of their originating address for children with Disabilities and 
those in the West of the county

Table 4: Number of Children in Care placed within 20 miles of home

Analysis of progress

 There has been a reduction in the number of children placed within 20 miles of 
their originating address.  This is due in part to the increase in UASC requiring 
placements in foster care in the county, which means that we have had to 
look further afield for places in order to find foster carers with availability. 

 Performance has been increasing since 2014 and continues to improve at a 
significant rate, however the most recent downward trend is representative of 
the additional pressures a sharp increase in CIC has had on SCS. 

 There remain variations across the county and further work is needed to ensure 
that performance in West and North continues to improve.

Page 22



Activity to deliver

 The Access to Resources Team (ART) undertakes searches within a 20 mile 
radius of a child’s home and/or within the boundary of Kent wherever 
possible. Social Workers work collaboratively with ART to find the most 
suitable placement for a child; placements are made outside of the county 
where they are the best match and will achieve the best possible outcomes.

 The 0-25 Transformation Programme for Fostering has now concluded and the 
changes to the service are fully embedded, and we continue to maintain the 
use of in-house foster placements wherever possible, meaning that 
placements will be local.  Performance as at May 2016 shows a 90.5% in-
house placement rate, up from 86.3% in March 2015.

Activity for the next quarter

 The in-house fostering service continues actively to seek in-house foster care 
placements, where appropriate for the child.

 An Out of Area Placement Officer has been appointed and is undertaking 
additional work alongside the ART team to ensure that children being placed 
out of county have access to services to meet their needs and will be 
safeguarded sufficiently prior to a placement commencing. 

Challenge 3: Access to high quality placements that support children in care 
to have stability and to achieve positive outcomes
Measure 4: We expect to see the percentage of children in long term care in 
the same placement for two years remaining stable

Table 5: Percentage of Children who have been LAC for the last 2.5 years 
and in the same placement for 2 years

58.00%
60.00%
62.00%
64.00%
66.00%
68.00%
70.00%
72.00%
74.00%
76.00%

%
 o

f C
IC

 in
 K

CC
 F

os
te

r C
ar

e

Analysis of progress

 The percentage of children in the same placement for more than two years has 
fallen over the last six months but remains in line with agreed performance 
targets.

Page 23



 Performance declined in 2013/14 but then increased towards the end of 2014, 
remaining stable up until October 2015.

Activity to deliver

 Practice Development Officers (PDO) from SCS are supporting Social Workers 
to identify appropriate foster placements for permanence.

 The Fostering element of the 0-25 Transformation Programme supports 
rigorous focus on placement matches, leading to more sustainable 
placements in the future.

Activity for the next quarter

 Work will continue on embedding the quality practice which was developed 
through the 0-25 Transformation Programme and more widely through the 
work of the practice development team in SCS.

 VSK is to work closely with the fostering service to ensure the education 
support offer is integrated and co-ordinated with the other resources 
supporting the team around the vulnerable looked after child, particularly 
those who are not in full-time education, as this creates a pressure on a 
placement.

 The DfE has been inviting bids to be considered for their innovation programme 
since 2013, and Kent is leading a bid with partner agencies – Kent Foster 
Care Association (KFCA), Guiding Forces and Early Help and Youth Services 
etc - to increase placement stability, to support looked after children and Kent 
foster carers to maintain placements and to transition young people positively 
into adulthood.  The key objective of this bid is to create a multi-faceted offer 
of support to Kent foster carers.

Challenge 3: Access to high quality placements that support children in care 
to have stability and to achieve positive outcomes
Measure 5: We expect to grow and diversify the skill, capability and capacity 
of our in-house foster carers

Table 6: Percentage of Children in KCC Foster Care, Excluding UASC

Page 24



Analysis of progress

 The proportion of children in County Council foster care has remained stable, 
overall, in the last six months. There have been some slight changes in the 
numbers of children requiring an independent fostering placement, but 
improved processes mean that this is much less likely to happen than prior to 
the implementation of the in-house fostering transformation programme.

 The percentage of children in County Council foster care has increased since 
2013, and is now above 2012 levels.

Activity to deliver

 Increasing the support to fostering households is in development. To provide 
support and an offer to current County Council carers, consideration has been 
given to providing an increased offer of support to carers.  This should also 
provide incentive for potential foster carers to work with the County Council as 
opposed to considering an Independent Fostering Provider placement. 

 In the coming months, focus will be placed on the recruitment and retention of 
foster carers, and with work to increase placement stability.  The offer to 
foster carers for those children and young people who are the most 
challenging is subject to an innovation bid.  There has also been a pilot in 
East Kent of wrap-around support to foster carers, where a dedicated respite 
carer is available to offer day care and respite support.

Actions for the next quarter

 Implementation of the Fostering Recruitment Strategy will seek to deliver 150 
new foster families with a focus on those who can provide stable placements 
for adolescents and children with disabilities. 

Challenge 4: Quality of practice and support to meet the needs of Children 
in Care, improving their experience of care and achieving permanence
Measure 6: We expect to see a reduction in the number of  Children in Care 
that have three or more placement moves per year

Page 25



Table 7: Percentage of Children in Care who had 3+ placements in the last 12 
months 

11.1%
10.6%

9.8% 9.4% 9.5%

10.9% 11.3%

8.9%

7.4% 7.1%
8.2%

9.6% 9.9% 9.6%

12.1% 12.5%

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

12.0%

14.0%

01
/0

3/
12

01
/0

5/
12

01
/0

7/
12

01
/0

9/
12

01
/1

1/
12

01
/0

1/
13

01
/0

3/
13

01
/0

5/
13

01
/0

7/
13

01
/0

9/
13

01
/1

1/
13

01
/0

1/
14

01
/0

3/
14

01
/0

5/
14

01
/0

7/
14

01
/0

9/
14

01
/1

1/
14

01
/0

1/
15

01
/0

3/
15

01
/0

5/
15

01
/0

7/
15

01
/0

9/
15

01
/1

1/
15

01
/0

1/
16

01
/0

3/
16

Analysis of progress

 The placement stability rates are different across age ranges, with increased 
placement changes for those young people who are older and in their teens. 

 There has been deterioration in the placement stability indicator for Kent looked 
after children.  In April 2015/16, the indicator reflected that 9.7% of looked 
after children had had 3+ placement moves; in April 2016/7 this had increased 
to 12.8% children having had 3+ placement moves, it is reduced to 11.7% 
when the UASC are removed from the calculation. 

 There is also an impact on placement stability as UASC do have placement 
moves; this includes the reception centre and their first placement.

 Good placement stability is apparent in the disabled children’s service.  The 
social work undertaken with the placement of children who have disabilities is 
reflected in the positive placement stability indicators.

Activity to deliver

 Social work practice has been audited in relation to placement preparation and 
planning.  There are key areas that have been identified where SCS can 
improve and develop.  There is statutory guidance that informs good social 
work practice and this is being re-launched with clear standards and 
expectations being outlined for social workers.

 The impact upon the children and young people who have reduced access to 
education has also been evaluated to identify what impact this has on 
disrupting placements.  This is an area where resources can be targeted to 
improve practical support to carers so that they can care for children.  
Bespoke educational input can reduce the pressure on a carer who has a 
young person at home for significantly more time than if they were attending 
full- time school.

Page 26



Activity for the next quarter
 Implementation of the recommendations made as a result of the case audit, 

including training sessions, will be rolled out. 
 A detailed paper on placement stability is being presented to the Corporate 

Parenting Panel on 20 July 2016, alongside this paper.

Challenge 4: Quality of practice and support to meet the needs of Children in 
Care, improving their experience of care and achieving permanence
Measure 7: We expect to see a continued reduction in the length of time it 
takes between entering the care of the Local Authority and an Adoption Order 
being granted

Table 8: Average days between becoming looked after and being placed for 
adoption

581.7

876

568.7
711.2

615.6
696.6 721.1

565.7
499.4

578.4 594.5
457.3 504

599.9

408

Average days Linear (Average days)

Analysis of progress

 The length of time between becoming a looked after child and being placed for 
adoption has steadily decreased since 2012, and continues to do so.

 The National Indicator is a three-year average, and Kent has a number of 
recently-adopted children who became looked after in 2011/12, and this 
‘legacy’ masks recent improvement in its timeliness.

 Coram’s management of the Adoption Service until January 2016 helped to 
achieve this improved performance, and children waiting with Placement 
Orders were placed with adopters after renewed efforts to recruit adopters 
and new family finding initiatives. 

Activity to deliver sustained improvement

 Children not yet adopted are discussed at Performance Surgeries with the 
allocated Social Workers within the Adoption Service, and with the CIC 
Service Managers at monthly Joint Tracking Meetings. 

 Whilst continuing to support approved and waiting adopters, we have (in March 
2016) begun recruiting adopters again and aim to have up to 40 new 

Page 27



approved adoptive households within 12 months, with more to follow. There 
are now regular Information Events for prospective applicants.

 Our Foster to Adopt scheme – which allows us to place children early with 
approved adopters (temporarily approved as foster carers) has seen some 
successful placements leading to adoption orders within six months, and the 
scheme will grow (with more Foster to Adopt placements being made) over 
the next 12 months.

Challenge 4: Quality of practice and support to meet the needs of Children in 
Care, improving their experience of care and achieving permanence
Measure 8: An increase in the number of children in permanent long-term 
fostering placements.

Table 9: Number of children placed permanently with Foster Carers

593

833

972 985 992 983 1025
1080 1113

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

31/03/14 30/06/14 30/09/14 31/12/14 31/03/15 30/06/15 30/09/15 31/12/15 31/03/16

Analysis of progress

 There have been moderate increases in the numbers of children placed in long-
term fostering arrangements since 2014, with a further increase in the last six 
months. 

 We will continue to track increases, and work is ongoing to identify placements 
for permanency.

Activity to deliver

 SCS have developed a whole-service approach to thinking more creatively 
about achieving permanence for children.

 The SCS Practice Development Team is leading work to expand the learning 
for Social Workers regarding permanency.

 A range of ‘procedure in a nutshell’ documents has been produced to support in 
identifying the best permanence option for children, and these are now being 
used by Social Work Teams. 

Page 28



Activity for the next quarter

 Continued roll-out of workshop activity to increase learning on permanency 
planning.

 Permanency Days similar to the existing Adoption Activity Days are being rolled 
out. 

4. Personnel and Training Implications

4.1. The review of progress against priorities identified will form an ongoing self-
assessment and will be the subject of scrutiny at the Corporate Parenting 
Panel. A further progress report will be made available to the Corporate 
Parenting Panel in six months’ time, setting out work done to address the 
identified priorities.

5. Implementation Proposals

5.1. The Strategy was implemented in July 2015, and the Corporate Parenting 
Panel will receive regular updates regarding delivery of the four ‘challenges’ as 
set out in the strategy and associated action plan.

6. Recommendations

6.1 Recommendation: Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
CONSIDER and COMMENT ON the progress made in implementing the Sufficiency, 
Placements and Commissioning Strategy 2015-2018.

7. Background Documents

Kent County Council’s Sufficiency, Placement and Commissioning Strategy, 
2015-2018:http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-
policies/childrens-social-care-and-families-policies/children-in-care-sufficiency-
strategy

8. Contact Details

Report Authors
Thom Wilson
Head of Children’s Strategic Commissioning
03000 416850
thom.wilson@kent.gov.uk

Charlotte Walker
Commissioning Officer
03000 416804
charlotte.walker@kent.gov.uk 

Relevant Director
Philip Segurola

Page 29

http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-%09policies/childrens-social-care-and-families-policies/children-in-care-sufficiency-%09strategy
http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-%09policies/childrens-social-care-and-families-policies/children-in-care-sufficiency-%09strategy
http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-%09policies/childrens-social-care-and-families-policies/children-in-care-sufficiency-%09strategy
mailto:thom.wilson@kent.gov.uk
mailto:charlotte.walker@kent.gov.uk


Director, Specialist Children’s Services
03000 413120
philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk

Page 30

mailto:philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk


By: Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 
Services

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, Health and 
Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 20 July 2016

Subject: PLACEMENT STABILITY REPORT

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral Divisions: All

Summary: The report on placement stability was requested by the Corporate 
Parenting Panel as the indications on the Child in Care Performance Scorecard 
reflected deterioration in placement stability, where children and young people 
looked after have 3+ placement moves. Analysis of the placement changes for 
children under 5 years of age where there were more than 3 placement moves was 
also undertaken. The factors that contribute to and influence placement stability are 
noted in the report. These issues have been reviewed and there are resultant 
recommendations and actions being taken. 

Recommendation: Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
CONSIDER the areas for development and COMMENT ON the proposed actions to 
improve placement stability.

1. Introduction

1.1 The current performance for placement stability is not as expected and is above 
the Kent target of 10%.  The Corporate Parenting Panel requested an update 
on the issues that might be contributing to this indicator.

1.2 The placement stability rates are different across age ranges, with increased 
placement changes for those young people who are older and in their teens.  
The Corporate Parenting Panel was concerned about children under 5 
years of age and was keen to understand the particular reasons for these 
placement moves.  There is also an impact on placement stability as 
Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) have placement moves, 
including at the reception centre and their first placement following on from the 
reception centre.

1.3 The impact of school exclusions and part-time timetables is touched upon as 
this does impact on the resilience of foster carers to maintain placements.  

1.4 Social work practice has been audited in relation to placement preparation 
and planning.  There are key areas that have been identified where Specialist 
Children’s Services (SCS) can improve and develop. There is statutory 

Page 31

Agenda Item B2



guidance that informs good social work practice and this is being re-launched 
with clear standards and expectations being outlined for social workers.

1.5 Increasing the support to fostering households is in development and needs 
further consideration.  The children and young people entering care can 
present some behavioural challenges, and recruiting foster carers who are able 
to manage their care can also be a challenge.  An increased support offer to 
current County Council carers has been considered and should provide 
incentive for potential foster carers to work with County Council as opposed 
to considering an Independent Fostering Agency (IFA).  The recruitment and 
retention of foster carers will be developed with a focus on increasing 
placement stability. The offer to foster carers for those children and young 
people who are the most challenging is subject to an innovation bid.  There has 
also been a pilot in East Kent of wrap-around support to foster carers, where a 
dedicated respite carer was available to offer day care and respite support to 
four foster carers who had challenging placements.

1.6 Good placement stability is apparent in the disabled children’s service.  The 
social work undertaken with placement of children who have disabilities is 
reflected in the positive placement stability indicators.  

1.7 In reviewing placement stability there are a number of social work practice 
considerations.  There has been an audit of the processes and information in 
requesting and planning placements.  This has been undertaken by the 
manager in the Access to Resources Team (ART) and there has also been a 
review of the placement processes in local duty teams by the Head of 
Fostering.  

1.8 The impact of the children and young people who have reduced access to 
education has also been evaluated to identify what impact this has on 
placement disruption.  This is an area where resources can be targeted to 
improve practical support to carers so they can care for children.  Bespoke 
educational input can help reduce the pressure on a carer who has a young 
person at home for a significant period of time compared to if they were 
attending full time school.

1.9 There is good performance in the children with disability service and this can be 
replicated so that the careful matching is also in place with mainstream 
fostering.

2. Analysis: Placement Stability

2.1 The placement stability indicator is an important measure to reflect the 
placements and care that a child has experienced.  On the whole, stability is 
associated with better outcomes1. There has been deterioration in the 
placement stability indicator for Kent looked after children.  In April 2015/16 the 
indicator reflected that 9.7% or 180 looked after children had had 3+ placement 
moves; in April 2016/7 this had increased to 12.8% or 296 children having had 

1 Research in Practice March 2014 Making the Right Choices Leaders’ Briefing Dartington. [www.rip.org.uk]

Page 32



3+ placement moves, reducing to 11.7% or 170 children, without UASC 
inclusion.

2.2 UASC placement stability impacts on the indicator as there are 2 placements 
as a result of the placement process. The initial placement is at the reception 
centre and precedes the permanent move.  A further move will provide a third 
or subsequent placement move and this happens where there is a move to 
independent accommodation or semi-independent accommodation.  

2.3 There is further challenge around citizen children aged over 14.  A sample of 
placements where there has been 3+ placement moves provides a picture of 
the reasons for the movements.  It is apparent that, as young people move 
towards adulthood, they increasingly spend time away from the placement due 
to variety of reasons, e.g. with partners, potential involvement with gangs and 
drugs, as well as presenting very challenging and disruptive behaviours.  All of 
these behaviours can place pressure on the fostering household.  Placements 
for this age group also reflect emergency responses, requiring the use of 
emergency beds, which can cause the number of placement moves to 
increase. 

2.4 Placement moves for under 5s have also been reviewed in detail.  There have 
been some placement moves which could not have been expected at the point 
at which the child was placed in care.  All children under 5 years old had care 
plans that involved purposeful transitions. 

 A child can be placed with their parents in foster care (parent 
and child placement), and then move to their own placement when a 
parent and child placement does not succeed; the child may then 
experience another move into an adoption placement, this creates 3+ 
placements.  

 In some cases, children were in care and then returned home to 
their parents, either through court direction or rehabilitation.  They then 
re-entered care and were placed for adoption; or, following a return 
home, they returned to care and did also subsequently move foster 
placements. 

 Older children aged between 2-5 years had placement moves 
because foster carers were finding their behaviour difficult to manage.

2.5 Virtual School Kent (VSK) monitor the educational attendance of looked after 
young people and ensure there is early intervention with those young people 
who are struggling with school attendance (ie achieving below 85% of full 
attendance), at risk of being excluded or subject to part timetables. VSK is 
reviewing the engagement with high risk young people to ensure that the most 
vulnerable children are identified (those at risk of missing from placement and 
also those who may be at risk or suffering Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE)) and 
appropriate resources are available to support educational attainment. The 
resources should provide increased intervention as part of the wider team 
around the looked after child.

Page 33



2.6 The period prior to a child entering care provides time to consider appropriate 
matching; this time should be utilised to ensure the first placement is the most 
appropriate placement.  Receiving a child into foster care is one of the most 
important events in childhood and it needs to be carefully planned with 
information provided to foster carers. 

2.7 When a placement is experiencing challenges, and is at risk of disruption, there 
are procedures which need to be implemented, including placement stability 
meetings and disruption meetings.  These key meetings should provide an 
arena of support for learning and development.  Foster carers can articulate 
what they need to continue to provide care; disruption meetings should create 
an opportunity to learn more about the young person and also provide the 
foster carer with an understanding of the child’s needs and how these can be 
addressed.  A key area is to also ensure placement endings are planned so 
that carers and young people end and transition from a placement in a positive 
way.

2.8 The innovation bid is an offer to Kent Foster carers which includes 
psychological support, delivered through the adolescent teams, and includes 
use of our outdoor centres.  The offer is to develop and provide support to 
whole fostering households, not only looked after children.

2.9 The fostering service is delivering a programme to support foster carers in 
managing challenging behaviour.  The 12 week Fostering Changes programme 
supports carers to build resilience and develop skills to persevere with 
particularly young adolescents.

 
3. Conclusion

3.1 Following on from further analysis, a number of proposals have been made: 

 A continued focus on placement stability to ensure that the social work 
task is supporting and ensuring that children and young people are 
receiving appropriate services.  At the pre-placement stage, ensuring 
there is preparation of carers and the matched child and also the post- 
placement support through placement planning meetings and the use of 
delegated authority. There is continued focus on improving practice and 
ensuring there is appropriate matching and placement planning prior to 
entry into care.

 The team around the child to work together, ensuring that there is a 
coherent offer to foster carers and the children in their care.  The support 
offer to ensure that the whole fostering household, including birth 
children, benefits.

 The innovation bid is further developed and submitted for Department for 
Education approval.  The model of supporting foster carers with a respite 
foster carer who links with named children to offer a package of day 
respite. 

Page 34



 The appropriate assessment and information regarding the child is 
available for the carer; the information about the carer is available for the 
child at the point at which the placement is made.

 The social work practice to be developed with a training programme on 
matching and fulfilling statutory responsibilities for care planning for 
children in care.

 Supervision to ensure that there is clear care planning in place and that 
foster carer supervision is in place with strategies for managing 
challenging behaviour.

 The virtual school provide an integrated offer to children and young 
people who are missing out on education that supports foster carers and 
enhances access to educational development.

4. Recommendations

4.1 Recommendation: Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
CONSIDER the areas for development and COMMENT ON the proposed 
actions to improve placement stability.

5. Background Documents

None

6. Contact Details

Report Author
Naintara Khosla
Assistant Director Corporate Parenting, Specialist Children’s Services
03000 422241
naintara.khosla@kent.gov.uk 

Relevant Director
Philip Segurola
Director, Specialist Children’s Services
03000 413120
philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk

Page 35

mailto:naintara.khosla@kent.gov.uk
mailto:philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



SCS Performance Management Report

3+ Placements
17 June 2016

Page 37



Data obtained from the Management Information Looked After Children Report as at 15 June 2016.

Children With Disabilities

Children with disabilities were defined as any child with a recorded disability on Liberi, regardless of the nature 
of the disability.

Child with disabilities No recorded disability
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

< 3 Placements 3+ Placements

Percentage of children with 3+ placements

%
 o

f c
hi

ld
re

n

< 3 Placements 3+ Placements
Volume % Volume %

Total

Child with disabilities 154 90.1% 17 9.9% 171
No recorded disability 1840 87.0% 275 13.0% 2115
Total 1994 87.2% 292 12.8% 2286

The proportion of children with disabilities with less than 3 placements in the last 12 months (90.1%) was 
slightly higher than that for children without disabilities (87.0%).

However, a breakdown by the number of placements showed that children with disabilities had a higher rate of 
just one placement in the last 12 months and children without disabilities had a higher rate of 2 placements in 
the last 12 months.  This suggests that children with disabilities have a slightly greater placement stability than 
children without disabilities.  But children with disabilities also had a longer average care duration of 1383 days 
compared to 899 days for children without disabilities which could also influence then number of placements.

Page 38



1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

Child with disabilities No recorded disability

Number of placements and disability

Number of placements in the last 12 months

%
 o

f c
hi

ld
re

n

Child with disabilities No recorded disabilityPlacements in the 
last 12 months Volume % Volume %

Grand Total

1 129 75.4% 1239 58.6% 1368
2 25 14.6% 601 28.4% 626
3 10 5.8% 178 8.4% 188
4 4 2.3% 54 2.6% 58
5 1 0.6% 28 1.3% 29
6 0 0.0% 7 0.3% 7
7 2 1.2% 6 0.3% 8
8 0 0.0% 1 0.0% 1
9 0 0.0% 1 0.0% 1

Grand Total 171 100.0% 2115 100.0% 2286

Three quarters of children with disabilities had one placement in the last 12 months (75.4%) compared to 58.6% 
for children without disabilities.

Children with disabilities within the disabled children’s teams had even greater stability with only 4.9% having 3 
or more placements in the last 12 months.

< 3 Placements 3+ Placements
Volume % Volume %

Total

Disabled Children’s Teams 97 95.1% 5 4.9% 102

Page 39



Age Profile

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

< 3 Placements 3+ Placements

3+ placements by current age

< 3 Placements 3+ PlacementsCurrent Age
Volume % Volume %

Total

0 50 92.6% 4 7.4% 54
1 23 88.5% 3 11.5% 26
2 24 85.7% 4 14.3% 28
3 26 83.9% 5 16.1% 31
4 28 93.3% 2 6.7% 30
5 29 90.6% 3 9.4% 32
6 44 93.6% 3 6.4% 47
7 55 90.2% 6 9.8% 61
8 67 91.8% 6 8.2% 73
9 69 89.6% 8 10.4% 77

10 87 96.7% 3 3.3% 90
11 92 92.9% 7 7.1% 99
12 113 92.6% 9 7.4% 122
13 106 88.3% 14 11.7% 120
14 157 91.8% 14 8.2% 171
15 197 86.8% 30 13.2% 227
16 327 81.5% 74 18.5% 401
17 500 83.8% 97 16.2% 597

Total 1994 87.2% 292 12.8% 2286

16 and 17 year olds saw the highest rate of 3+ placements in 12 months.  Approximately half of this age group 
were in leaving care accommodation so would likely have had at least one move in the last 12 months as part of 
their care plan.

The second highest rate of 3+ placements was seen in 3 and 4 year olds.  However, it is worth noting that this 
age group accounted for a small percentage of LAC, just 2.7% or 61 children, with 7 of these having 3+ 

Page 40



placements in the last 12 months.  The small size of this group makes it difficult to draw any conclusions but it 
may be an area worth monitoring.

10 year olds saw the lowest rate of 3+ placements in the last 12 months.

From the ages of 10 to 17 the proportion of children with less than 3 placements decreased with age.

10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17
70%

75%

80%

85%

90%

95%

100%

3+ placements for 10 to 17 year olds trend

Current Age

There was no trend found in children aged 0 to 9 to indicate a linear relationship between age and having 3+ 
placements in 12 months.

Page 41



Gender Profile

Female Male
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

< 3 Placements 3+ Placements

3+ placements by Gender
%

 o
f c

hi
ld

re
n

< 3 Placements 3+ PlacementsGender
Volume % Volume %

Total

Female 616 90.3% 66 9.7% 682
Male 1378 85.9% 226 14.1% 1604
Total 1994 87.2% 292 12.8% 2286

Females had a lower rate of 3+ placements (9.7%) than males (14.1%). 

Asylum Profile

Citizen LAC UASC LAC
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

< 3 Placements 3+ Placements

3+ placements by Asylum status

%
 o

f c
hi

ld
re

n

< 3 Placements 3+ PlacementsAsylum Flag
Volume % Volume %

Total

Citizen LAC 1269 88.2% 170 11.8% 1439
UASC LAC 725 85.6% 122 14.4% 847
Total 1994 87.2% 292 12.8% 2286

UASC had a slightly higher rate of 3+ placements (14.4%) than citizen LAC (11.8%).

Page 42



Period of Care Duration
U

nd
er

 2
 w

ee
ks

2 
w

ee
ks

 to
 u

nd
er

 8
 w

ee
ks

8 
w

ee
ks

 to
 u

nd
er

 6
 m

on
th

s 

6 
m

on
th

s t
o 

un
de

r 1
 y

ea
r

1 
ye

ar
 to

 u
nd

er
 2

 y
ea

rs

2 
ye

ar
s t

o 
un

de
r 3

 y
ea

rs

3 
ye

ar
s t

o 
un

de
r 5

 y
ea

rs

5 
ye

ar
s t

o 
un

de
r 1

0 
ye

ar
s

10
 y

ea
rs

 a
nd

 o
ve

r

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

< 3 Placements 3+ Placements

3+ placements by period of care duration

< 3 Placements 3+ PlacementsPeriod of Care Band
Volume % Volume %

Total

Under 2 weeks 12 100.0% 0 0.0% 12
2 weeks to under 8 weeks 82 89.1% 10 10.9% 92
8 weeks to under 6 months 237 89.4% 28 10.6% 265
6 months to under 1 year 524 79.0% 139 21.0% 663
1 year to under 2 years 301 85.3% 52 14.7% 353
2 years to under 3 years 183 92.4% 15 7.6% 198
3 years to under 5 years 264 91.7% 24 8.3% 288
5 years to under 10 years 341 95.0% 18 5.0% 359
10 years and over 50 89.3% 6 10.7% 56
Total 1994 87.2% 292 12.8% 2286

Children with a current period of care between 6 months and 1 year had the highest rate of 3+ placements.

Children who had been in care between 5 and 10 years had the lowest rate of 3+ placements, with 95.0% of 
children having less than 3 placements in the last 12 months.

Page 43



The period of care duration is only the duration of the current episode, whereas the number of placements is 
over the last 12 months, even if this spans more than one period of care.  Any children whose current period of 
care was less than 1 year could have had placements included for previous periods of care.

A breakdown of those children who had been in care for less than a year and had three or more placements 
showed that 70% of children with 3 or more placements who had been in care for between 2 and 8 weeks had 
more than one period of care during the 12 month period.

However, the proportion of children with 3 or more placements who had been in care for between 6 months 
and 1 year and had multiple periods of care is low at just 2.2%.  Therefore the high rate of placements for 
children with this care duration cannot be attributed to multiple periods of care.

2 weeks to under 8 
weeks

8 weeks to under 6 
months 

6 months to under 1 year
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

1 Period of Care 2 Periods of Care 3 Periods of Care
4 Periods of Care

Length of current period of care

1 Period of Care 2 Periods of Care 3 Periods of Care 4 Periods of CarePeriod of Care Band
Volume % Volume % Volume % Volume %

Total

2 weeks to under 8 weeks 3 30.0% 4 40.0% 2 20.0% 1 10.0% 10
8 weeks to under 6 months 19 67.9% 5 17.9% 4 14.3% 0.0% 28
6 months to under 1 year 129 92.8% 7 5.0% 1 0.7% 2 1.4% 139
Total 151 85.3% 16 9.0% 7 4.0% 3 1.7% 177

40 of the 2286 LAC had multiple periods of care in the last 12 months, which accounts for just 1.7%.  26 of the 
children with multiple periods of care had 3+ placements in the last 12 months, so the small number of these 
cases is unlikely to have a significant effect on any other groupings.

Page 44



Legal Status

Children in care under a Care Order had the highest rate of less than 3 placements (92.2%), section 20s have the 
lowest rate (84.0%).

However, there were differences in the profiles of children with different legal statuses.  Children on care orders 
had a higher average period of care duration, whereas children on interim care orders had a particularly low 
average period of care duration.  The average age for the different legal statuses also varied, so the difference in 
the number of placements may be related to factors other than the legal status itself.

CLA - C1 - Interim 
Care Order

CLA - C2 - Care 
Order

CLA - E1 - 
Placement order 

granted

CLA - V2 - Single 
period of 

accommodation 
under Section 20

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

< 3 Placements 3+ Placements

3+ placements by Legal Status

%
 o

f c
hi

ld
re

n

Note: children with a Legal status of J1 and L1 were excluded from the graph due to the low numbers

< 3 Placements 3+ PlacementsLegal Status
Volume % Volume %

Total

CLA - C1 - Interim Care Order 146 83.0% 30 17.0% 176
CLA - C2 - Care Order 810 92.2% 69 7.8% 879
CLA - E1 - Placement order granted 74 88.1% 10 11.9% 84
CLA - V2 - Single period of 
accommodation under Section 20

959 84.0% 182 16.0% 1141

CLA - J1 - In local authority on remand, 
or committed for trial or sentence

2 66.7% 1 33.3% 3

CLA - L1 - Under police protection, in 
local authority accommodation

3 100.0% 0 0.0% 3

Total 1994 87.2% 292 12.8% 2286

Legal Status Average of Period of 
Care Duration in days

CLA - C1 - Interim Care Order 176.1
CLA - C2 - Care Order 1786.0

Page 45



CLA - E1 - Placement order granted 575.8
CLA - V2 - Single period of accommodation under Section 20 427.9
All Legal Statuses 937.5

Legal Status Average Age
CLA - C1 - Interim Care Order 5.7
CLA - C2 - Care Order 12.1
CLA - E1 - Placement order granted 3.7
CLA - V2 - Single period of accommodation under Section 20 15.6
All Legal Statuses 13.0

Page 46



Current Placement Type

IF
A

KC
C 

Fo
st

er
 C

ar
e

KC
C 

Re
sid

en
tia

l

Le
av

in
g 

Ca
re

O
th

er

P&
V

Pl
ac

ed
 fo

r A
do

pt
io

n

Pl
ac

ed
 w

ith
 P

ar
en

ts

Re
la

tiv
es

 a
nd

 F
rie

nd
s

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

< 3 Placements 3+ Placements

3+ placements by current placement type

%
 o

f c
hi

ld
re

n

< 3 Placements 3+ PlacementsPlacement Grouping
Volume % Volume %

Total

IFA 308 86.8% 47 13.2% 355
KCC Foster Care 1009 92.8% 78 7.2% 1087
KCC Residential 90 98.9% 1 1.1% 91
Leaving Care 379 75.0% 126 25.0% 505
Other 32 97.0% 1 3.0% 33
P&V 47 64.4% 26 35.6% 73
Placed for Adoption 41 89.1% 5 10.9% 46
Placed with Parents 23 79.3% 6 20.7% 29
Relatives and Friends 65 97.0% 2 3.0% 67
Total 1994 87.2% 292 12.8% 2286

Children in P&V placements had the highest rate of 3+ placements in the last 12 months.

Children in Leaving Care placements or placed with parents also had fairly high rates of 3+ placements of 25.0% 
and 20.7% respectively.  However, these placements may be planned and in line the child’s care plan to either 
prepare for independence or return home.

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



By: Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 
Services

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, Health and 
Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 20 July 2016

Subject: OVERVIEW OF THE LAMING REVIEW: ‘IN CARE, OUT OF 
TROUBLE’

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral Divisions: All

Summary: This report outlines the key findings of the Laming Review into 
the life chances of Children in Care who have entered the 
Criminal Justice System, ‘In Care, Out of Trouble’, which was 
published on 23 May 2016.

Recommendation: Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
CONSIDER this report and its findings.

1. Background

1.1 In 2015 the Prison Reform Trust announced it was going to conduct a review, 
independently chaired by Lord Laming, into the reasons for the over-
representation of Children in Care (CIC) and care leavers in the Criminal 
Justice System (CJS).  The review was intended to assess data from across 
England and Wales - drawing on quantitative and qualitative information - to 
piece together a picture of the current state of affairs in this regard and to make 
proposals about potential reforms which could help improve the life chances of 
Children in Care whilst preventing future crime.

1.2 The review drew on evidence submitted by 60% of local authorities and 
received over 220 written submissions, as well as oral evidence, from both 
young people who had been in care and other key stakeholders.

1.3 In May 2016, the findings of the review were published and as expected it 
proposed that significant changes need to be made to the CJS in order to stem 
the high numbers of CIC and care leavers who are being cautioned or 
convicted of crimes under current processes.

2. Review Overview

2.1 The review found that, whilst 94% of CIC in England and Wales do not get into 
trouble with the law, as a group, CIC and care leavers are over-represented in 
the CJS and in custody, where many have a poor experience.  However, with 

Page 49

Agenda Item B3



the right support, a significant proportion (up to 45%) of these young people 
can be prevented from moving into patterns of criminal behaviour.  Furthermore, the 

review stressed that, if young people get involved in the CJS ‘unnecessarily’ i.e. 
for low-level offences, good practice can dramatically reduce the long-term 
costs incurred as a result - both for the individual child and for society at large.

2.2 The review goes on to state that CIC who are at risk of offending need 
consistent emotional and practical support from their carers and other 
professionals, and are likely to be especially vulnerable when they leave 
care.  Key methods of support that should be available to them include 
therapeutic/professional guidance to come to terms with separation from their 
birth families, placement stability and peer mentoring.  Moreover, CIC from 
BME communities can feel negatively stereotyped by police; they also feel that 
their cultural needs are not consistently met by social services.

2.3 The review underscores the fact that, although remedial work and rehabilitation 
are essential, prevention is more effective in this regard.  This can only be 
achieved by agencies working together collaboratively, with the child and their 
needs at the centre of the process.  The study also highlights how corporate 
parenting is the responsibility of all, and that it needs to be strengthened in 
order to be truly effectual.

3. Key Findings

3.1 The Review has identified five key recommendations or ‘outcomes’ that it 
wishes to see progressed.  These are:

3.1.1 Strong and determined leadership at national and local levels, taking a 
strategic multi-agency approach to protecting CIC against criminalisation. 
This needs to be underpinned by better data collection so as to improve 
services for children and families, especially those at risk.

This will be achieved via:

 The formation of a Cabinet Sub-Committee (for England) to provide 
national leadership in protecting CIC from unnecessary criminalisation – 
scrutinising joint working, regulation and policy development.

 The development of a cross-departmental concordat on preventing CIC 
from criminalisation – reinforcing the statutory obligations placed on all 
relevant agencies and highlighting the need for joint action; Local 
authorities (LAs) and the police (with other partner agencies) are to take 
the lead in the development of local concordats, outlining agreed 
outcomes to reduce the criminalisation of, and offending by, Children and 
Young People (CYP) in care.  All concordats should highlight the 
importance of early help and support, and involve all children’s homes – 
whether independent or publicly run – to minimise police involvement in 
managing challenging behaviour.  Both national and local concordats 
should be developed within one year with a two-year implementation 
period.

Page 50



 Necessary amendments should be made to statutory guidance to assist 
the achievement of concordat outcomes (and wider review 
recommendations).

 Establishing common standards for the collection, analysis and publication 
of data about CYP in the CJS to inform better responses to their needs.

 Criminalisation should be included as an inspection measure for 
assessment when looking at provision by local authorities, children’s 
homes and schools (with local authorities’ performance measured against 
the percentage of their CYP involved in the CJS and the level of support 
provided to these YP). Local authority children’s social services and youth 
justice services are likely to be evaluated against any new measures.

 Ensuring the convergence of information systems between children’s 
social care and youth justice services.

 The new national ‘What Works’ centre should work alongside the Youth 
Justice Board for England and Wales to disseminate information about 
good practice in this regard.

3.1.2 Consistent, early support for children and families, and, where necessary, 
good parenting by the state.

This will be achieved by:

 The Home Office implementing regional police protocols to reduce 
prosecutions of CIC, modelled on South East England protocols.  Also, 
allowing police forces to record low-level crime to ensure vulnerable 
children are referred to an appropriate welfare agency at the earliest 
opportunity.

 Requiring Police and Crime Commissioners (PCCs) to set clear 
expectations for police forces to work in collaboration with LAs and 
other agencies to protect CIC from unnecessary criminalisation.

 ‘Good parenting by the state gives CIC the best chance to thrive and 
protects them from criminalisation.’ Local authority leadership to be 
strengthened by enhanced statutory guidance to ensure LAs take 
responsibility for addressing the stigma faced by CIC; this should be 
done through work and awareness raising with partner agencies and 
key stakeholders about CIC’s needs, circumstances and 
characteristics, challenging any negative stereotypes.  Forums for 
these activities may include strategic meetings with multi-agency 
partners which aim to improve outcomes for CYP through information 
sharing and joint decision making.  Statutory guidance may also be 
refined to set out the range of activities LAs and partner agencies must 
carry out in order to fulfil their corporate parenting responsibilities 
(including the Director of Children’s Services updating Lead Members 
about the progress of CIC and care leavers known to the CJS; and 

Page 51



improved working relationships between LAs and CJS bodies such as 
the CPS).

 LAs recruiting, training and supporting peer mentors to act as positive 
role models for CIC and carrying out a rigorous review whenever a CIC 
has three or more placement moves within twelve months or following 
a police call-out in relation to the behaviour of a CIC.

 Taking the wishes and feelings of CIC into consideration, ensuring they 
are kept abreast of developments and that they are treated with 
respect and understanding.  All children should be assessed by a 
mental health professional upon entering care, and there should be a 
presumption that looked after children and young people are given first 
priority for mental health services until they have been fully assessed, 
after which point priority should be determined based on clinical need.

3.1.3 Investigating and addressing the needs of minority groups of looked after 
children who are at risk of involvement in the CJS. 

This will be achieved by:

 Disaggregating data on CIC whom are involved in the CJS on the basis 
of ethnicity, faith, gender and disability. Lead Members, Corporate 
Parenting Boards and Chief Constables should specifically focus on:

o the needs of BME children
o the faith-based needs of CIC
o the additional needs of disabled young people (including 

learning and speech and language needs)
o the needs of young people subject to immigration control - 

including prioritising the mental health needs of UASC, foreign 
national CIC, in relation to their immigration status, and children 
subject to deportation proceedings

o ensuring that children and young people receive care that is 
gender-sensitive e.g. that girls have access to support from 
female staff

o CIC who are the potential victims of trafficking.

3.1.4 More effective joint working between families, local authorities, youth 
offending services, CAMHS, the police and other Criminal Justice 
agencies, leading to substantially improved opportunities for preventing 
the criminalisation of CIC and diverting them from the CJS wherever 
possible. Where this cannot be done, CIC deserve proper support and fair 
treatment throughout the Criminal Justice process.

This will be achieved by:

 LAs holding regular, formal panel meetings with police and partners 
to review the circumstances of each CIC at the first indication that 
they have begun to offend.

 LAs putting in place resources, including training and support, to 
ensure carers in all placements are able to support children’s social 

Page 52



development and respond appropriately to challenging behaviour 
without involving the police formally.

 LAs notifying Criminal Justice agencies when a CIC comes into 
contact with the CJS. When a CIC is arrested, LAs will be 
responsible for ensuring they are provided with prompt support at 
the police station. Further, when a CIC appears in court, their social 
worker (or another adult who knows the child) should be required to 
attend. The LA should facilitate family support for the child at all 
stages of the process.

 Information about relevant CIC should be shared between agency 
partners at each stage of the Criminal Justice process in a timely 
manner. Resettlement planning should be completed within 21 days 
of a CIC’s release from custody.

3.1.5 Care leavers must receive more consistent support.

This will be achieved by:

 All Criminal Justice agencies should ensure they know when 
they are working with a CIC, understand their vulnerabilities and 
ensure they are fairly treated.  The police should always consult 
with LAs before pursuing custodial action and the CPS should 
review its operational guidance on prosecution in relation to CIC 
in residential care.

 Where there is no alternative to custody, CIC should be placed 
in small, local units which are designed to promote their 
psychological and emotional wellbeing.

 CIC should be diverted from the CJS and custody wherever 
possible, by:

o ensuring matters are dealt with without court proceedings
o that children are eligible for bail 
o ensuring CYP are well supported whilst being remanded 

in custody.
o If a YP is convicted of a minor offence, consideration 

should be given to wiping the rehabilitation (or disclosure) 
period for the offence immediately.

 ‘Staying Put’ and ‘When I am Ready’ arrangements should be 
extended to YP leaving residential care and transitional 
accommodation placements.

 Support for care leavers who are not in education or training 
should be extended from 21 to 25, matching the support 
received by care leavers in training or education.

4. Conclusion

Page 53



4.1 The findings of the Laming Review are being presented to the Prime Minister’s 
office, the Ministry of Justice, Home Office, Department for Education, 
Department of Health, Department for Communities and Local Government and 
Welsh Government, alongside Local Authority chairs and chief executives, 
Clinical Commissioning Groups, Police and Crime Commissioners and chief 
constables.  It remains to be seen which – if any – of the recommendations 
arising from this review will be taken forward by the Government. However, it is 
worthy of note that this is the first of a series of reviews into the effectiveness of 
the Criminal Justice System which Ministers may wish to consider – the others 
being Charlie Taylor’s review of youth justice (due to be published in July 
2016), commissioned by the Secretary of State for Justice, which is expected to 
recommend overhauling the process of child custody, and David Lammy’s 
independent review into the treatment of, and outcomes for, BME individuals in 
the CJS, which is due to report in Spring 2017).

4.2 The review identifies a number of ‘best practice’ areas which are dealing with 
some the challenges outlined in this report to good effect. They include Surrey, 
Leeds, Leicestershire, Staffordshire, Gwent, Norfolk, Hertfordshire and 
Waltham Forest.  It may be useful to conduct further research into the work that 
is taking place in these local authority areas, to identify learning which could be 
fruitfully used to inform Kent’s approaches and resource allocations in the 
future.

5. Recommendations

5.1 Recommendations: Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
CONSIDER this report.

6. Background Documents
None

7. Contact details

Report Author
Jennifer Maiden-Brooks
Policy Adviser
Strategy, Policy, Relationships & Corporate Assurance (SPA)
03000 416417
jennifer.maiden-brooks@kent.gov.uk

Relevant Director
Philip Segurola
Director, Specialist Children’s Services
03000 413120
philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk

Page 54

mailto:jennifer.maiden-brooks@kent.gov.uk
mailto:philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk

	Agenda
	A3 Minutes of the meeting of this Panel held on 26 May 2016
	B1 Progress report - Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning Strategy 2015 - 2018
	B2 Placement Stability Report
	B2 - App 1 - 3+ placement data V1 170616 VB (2)

	B3 Overview of the Laming Review - 'In care, out of trouble'

